FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
10/26/2020 4:03 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/27/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 99154-5

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(COURT OF APPEALS NO. 79657-7-I)

EVANSTON INSURANCE COMPANY, an Illinois corporation, and an Assignee of Western Refinery Services, a Washington corporation,

Petitioner,

v.

PENHALL COMPANY, a California corporation,

Respondent.

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

(WHATCOM COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT JUDGE RAQUEL MONTOYA-LEWIS, PRESIDING)

Anthony R. Scisciani III, WSBA No. 32342 Audrey C. Chambers, WSBA No. 53625 Counsel for Petitioner Evanston Insurance Company

# I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioner Evanston Insurance Company ("Evanston"), an assignee of Western Refinery Services, Inc. ("WRS"), asks this Court to accept review of the decision designated in § II below and attached hereto as Appendix A.

# II. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Division One held that Whatcom County Superior Court Judge Raquel Montoya-Lewis erred when she granted Evanston's motion for summary judgment.

Penhall Company ("Penhall"), a specialty subcontractor that held itself out as exceptionally qualified in its field, was originally contacted by general contractor WRS in 2014 regarding the possibility of using Petromat® to waterproof a parking facility for WRS at a property owned by Morse Square. Upon visiting the parking facility, Penhall announced to WRS that Petromat® was not right for the job requested by WRS. Instead, Penhall identified and prescribed what it described as "Waterproofing Method System C" as the correct product. Penhall installed Waterproofing Method System C at Morse Square's parking facility and gave a 2-year warranty – but later conceded that it was "not the correct application."

When the parking deck leaked and Morse Square sued WRS, Penhall claimed that it had "no solutions" but nonetheless reaffirmed the warranty extended to WRS prior to WRS's acceptance of Penhall's proposal. Despite multiple tenders of defense and requests by WRS for Penhall to assist with the defense of the Morse Square claims, Penhall repeatedly ignored WRS, leaving WRS to defend Morse Square's claims alone. WRS settled the claim with Morse Square and assigned its rights to Evanston, who initiated this action against Penhall.

On appeal, Penhall renewed its argument that it did not have a duty to defend WRS and could challenge the amount of the settlement between Morse Square and WRS as the proper measure of the damages it owes to WRS. Penhall also argued that the award of WRS's attorneys' fees, incurred defending the Morse Square claims, was improper under the equitable indemnity theory ("ABC rule"). Division One reversed the judgment and award of attorneys' fees and remanded the case for further proceedings. *Evanston Ins. Co. v. Penhall Co.*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 863, 468 P.3d 651 (2020), *reconsideration denied* (Sept. 24, 2020).

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Does the Court of Appeals' holding that Penhall did not have a duty to defend WRS conflict with decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals recognizing the availability of implied indemnity claims based on an express warranty?
- B. Does the Court of Appeals' holding that Penhall was not estopped from challenging the settlement as the proper measure

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Appendix B.

of damages for its breach of contract with WRS conflict with other decisions of the Court of Appeals holding that a party that denies a tender of defense based on a duty to defend and indemnify another party on their third party claim may not later challenge the reasonableness of the underlying settlement?

C. Does the Court of Appeals' holding that Penhall did not have a contractual or equitable duty to defend WRS conflict with express statements by this Court recognizing the availability implied indemnity claims based on express warranties and because the same is of substantially important interest to the public, given the use of warranties by companies to manage and allocate risk in the construction industry?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. Factual Allegations

Petitioner Evanston asserted claims against Respondent Penhall Company ("Penhall") for breach of contract, breach of express and implied warranty, and indemnification.<sup>2</sup> Evanston's claims against Penhall are the product of an assignment of rights by Evanston's insured Western Refinery Services ("WRS") following WRS's settlement of an arbitration demand by 1010 Morse Square LLC ("Morse Square").<sup>3</sup>

In May 2014, WRS contacted Penhall and inquired about the possible use of Petromat<sup>®</sup> to waterproof the parking facility.<sup>4</sup> Petromat<sup>®</sup> engineered paving fabrics are used as a moisture barrier and stress absorbing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> CP at 4-5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CP at 745-51.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CP at 770, 777.

interlayer between flexible pavements such as asphalt overlays or a chip seal.<sup>5</sup> A representative of Penhall, Joe Metcalf, was given unlimited access to the parking facility and met with a WRS representative, Loren VanderYacht.<sup>6</sup> Metcalf informed VanderYact that Petromat® was unsuitable for the Project.<sup>7</sup>

Instead, Metcalf proposed "a membrane" based on his experience and expertise. Petromat® and System "C" membrane ("System C") are the only two membrane products that Penhall installs. The State of Washington Department of Transportation ("WSDOT") developed System C (hot applied rubberized asphalt protected with fabric) for use on highway bridges. Prior to the Project, Penhall had only applied System C to bridges according to applicable WSDOT specifications. Nevertheless, after visiting the site, Penhall submitted to WRS a proposal to waterproof the parking deck at Morse Square with System C. 12

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Petromat<sup>®</sup> Original: The Original Paving Fabric, PROPEX, http://propexglobal.com/Petromat (last visited Oct. 25, 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CP at 770-71, 777, 1213.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> *Id.*; CP at 912.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> CP at 770-71.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> CP at 799 (Appendix E), 801, 1207.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> CP at 214-16, 909-11, 913-14, 1210.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> CP at 1209-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> CP at 794-95 (Appendix D); 912-13.

On July 15, 2014, Penhall emailed WRS and extended a 2-year warranty "for this job only," adding "[h]opefully that will help." On July 21, 2014, WRS accepted Penhall's proposal and enlisted Penhall to apply System C to Morse Square's parking facility. Penhall completed the installation of System C in August 2014 and was paid \$53,988 by WRS for its work. 15

Almost immediately thereafter, there were reports of water intrusion at Morse Square's parking facility. From September 2014 through February 2015, WRS and Penhall performed warranty repairs to stop the leaks at the parking facility. In April 2015, Penhall admitted "that System C was not the correct application" and refused to help further, explaining that it had "no answers" and "no solutions." Penhall nonetheless twice confirmed its warranty for workmanship and materials at the Project.

In July 2015, Morse Square served WRS with a demand for arbitration for claims of breach of contract, breach of warranty, indemnification, and negligence pursuant to the arbitration provision in its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> CP at 789, 797 (Appendix C).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> CP at 794-95 (Appendix D).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> CP at 789.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> CP at 775, 789, 799 (Appendix E), 801.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CP at 799 (Appendix E), 801.

contract with WRS.<sup>19</sup> In October 2015, WRS retained MC Consultants to assess the causes for the continuing water intrusion problems at the parking facility.<sup>20</sup> In November 2015, there was a site inspection conducted at the parking facility.<sup>21</sup> Penhall did not attend the site inspection.<sup>22</sup> In January 2016, WRS tendered to Penhall, inviting it to help defend against Morse Square's claims, and to attend arbitration and participate in mediation.<sup>23</sup> Penhall did not respond.<sup>24</sup> Penhall never responded to WRS's follow-up tenders in February and March 2016, and did not participate in mediation.<sup>25</sup>

In March 2016, Morse Square hired FD Thomas to install Neogard<sup>®</sup> and perform the repair work to the parking facility.<sup>26</sup> FD Thomas performed its work in phases over two to three months to accommodate the tenants' access to parking spaces.<sup>27</sup> On September 1, 2016, WRS settled Morse Square's claims for \$535,000.<sup>28</sup> The insurance policy issued by Evanston to WRS provided for the transfer of rights from the insured to Evanston to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> CP at 679-80; 683-701.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> CP at 680.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> *Id.*; 703-30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> CP at 680.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> CP at 762, 764-65.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> CP at 767-68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> CP at 681; 745-51.

recover payment made on behalf of its insured WRS.<sup>29</sup> In August 2017, WRS assigned its rights of recovery against Penhall to Evanston.<sup>30</sup> Shortly thereafter, Evanston filed its action against Penhall.<sup>31</sup>

# **B.** Procedural History

On August 22, 2017, Evanston filed its Amended Complaint for breach of contract, breach of indemnity, breach of express and implied warranty, and indemnification against Penhall.<sup>32</sup> In December 2018, both Evanston and Penhall cross-moved for summary judgment.<sup>33</sup> By its motion, Evanston sought from the trial court a ruling that (a) Penhall breached its contract with WRS, (b) Penhall owed indemnity to WRS for reimbursement of the underlying settlement amount and attorney's fees, (c) Penhall was estopped from challenging the reasonableness of the underlying settlement, and (d) the underlying settlement between Morse Square and WRS was reasonable.<sup>34</sup> The trial court granted Evanston's summary judgment motion

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> CP at 118.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> CP at 806; 808-09.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> CP at 1-7.

 $<sup>^{32}</sup>$  *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> CP at 663-78; 811-26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> *Id*.

and subsequent fee petition<sup>35</sup> for Evanston's fees incurred defending WRS and those incurred in the action against Penhall.<sup>36</sup>

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

A. Review is proper under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2) because the Court of Appeals' holding that Penhall did not have a duty to defend WRS conflicts with decisions of this Court and of the Court of Appeals recognizing the availability of implied indemnity claims based on an express warranty.

Division One's holding that Penhall did not have a duty to defend WRS conflicts with decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals, permitting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2).

This Court first established the availability of implied indemnity claims in *Cent. Wash. Refrigeration, Inc. v. Barbee,* 133 Wn.2d 509, 946 P.2d 760 (1997). This Court expounded on the contours of *Barbee* in *Fortune View Condo. Ass'n v. Fortune Star Dev. Co.*, 151 Wn.2d 534, 90 P.3d 1062 (2004). "As *Barbee* explains, [w]hile indemnity sounds in contract and tort it is a separate equitable cause of action."<sup>37</sup> A cause of action for implied indemnity "arises when one party incurs a liability the other party should discharge by virtue of the nature of the relationship

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> CP at 1249-58.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> CP at 1616-18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> 151 Wn.2d 534, 539, 90 P.3d 1062, 1065 (2004) (quoting *Barbee*, 133 Wn.2d at 513) (footnote omitted).

between the two parties."<sup>38, 39</sup> Division One held that an implied indemnity claim can be supported by an express warranty and this Court agreed.<sup>40</sup> "An express warranty is an affirmation of fact which may tend to induce the buyer to purchase, or a promise by the seller upon which the buyer relies when making the purchase."<sup>41</sup> Contractual privity is not required for a plaintiff to benefit from express warranties in advertising.<sup>42</sup>

In this case, Division One noted that Evanston argued multiple grounds for relief and commented that the trial court did not articulate the grounds upon which it based its Order granting Evanston's summary

[Implied contractual indemnity] is "based on the special nature of a contractual relationship between parties." However, not every contract or contractual relationship creates a right to implied indemnity. There must be "unique special factors demonstrating that the parties intended that the would-be indemnitor bear the ultimate responsibility... or when there is a generally recognized special relationship between the parties." Thus, there must be a "contract between two parties that necessarily implies the right." The implication of the right to indemnity may arise from "the relationship between the parties, circumstances of the parties' conduct, and that the creation of the indemnitor/indemnitee relationship is *derivative* of the contracting parties' intended agreement."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> In her dissent in *Fortune*, 151 Wn.2d at 543-44, Justice Madsen gave a concise summary of implied contractual indemnity:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> *Id.* at 539-40 (quoting *Urban Dev., Inc. v. Evergreen Bldg. Prods., L.L.C.*, 114 Wn. App. 639, 649-50, 59 P.3d 112, 118-19 (2002)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Water & Sanitation Health, Inc. v. Chiquita Brands Int'l, Inc., No. C14-10 RAJ, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 70673, at \*8 (W.D. Wash. May 22, 2014) (quoting McDonald Credit Serv. v. Church, 49 Wn.2d 400, 401, 301 P.2d 1082, 1083 (1956) (emphasis omitted)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> *Id.* (quoting *Fortune View Condo. Ass'n.*, 151 Wn. 2d at 539 n.3).

judgment motion. <sup>43</sup> So, Division One ignored the claim for implied indemnity and focused singularly on the issue of express, contractual indemnity. <sup>44</sup> Division One thereby failed to address Evanston's arguments regarding implied contractual indemnity based on the express two-year warranty given by Penhall. Division One expressly found that "Penhall affirmed that it warranted its work for workmanship and materials in several written communications with WRS" (which finding is sufficient to sustain Evanston's implied indemnity claim) but strangely focused on the method of delivery of the express, 2-year warranty (via e-mail, separate from the written proposal), which method of delivery has no legal significance. <sup>45</sup>

Under the holdings in *Barbee, Urban Dev.*, and *Fortune View Condo. Ass'n.*, the existence of an express warranty (like the one given by Penhall here) provides a sufficient basis for an implied contractual indemnity claim. Here, however, Division One made no attempt to distinguish the instant case from either *Barbee*, *Urban Dev.*, or *Fortune View Condo. Ass'n.* Division One compared and distinguished the warranties in the Morse Square/WRS and Penhall/WRS contracts.<sup>46</sup> However, the distinction drawn by Division One is one that nonetheless

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Evanston Ins. Co., 13 Wn. App. 2d at 869 n.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> *Id.* at 875.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> *Id.* at 875-76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> *Id*.

affords WRS protection under *Barbee, Urban Dev.*, and *Fortune View Condo. Ass'n.*, given the nature of Penhall's breach by recommending, warranting, <u>and</u> installing what it later admitted was the wrong product. As noted above, contractual privity was not necessary for Morse Square to be entitled to equitable indemnity from Penhall.

The Court of Appeals' opinion plainly conflicts with *Barbee*, *Urban Dev.*, and *Fortune View Condo. Ass'n*. Therefore, review is required under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2).

B. Review is proper under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the Court of Appeals' holding that Penhall was not estopped from challenging the settlement as the proper measure of damages for its breach of contract with WRS conflicts with other decisions of the Court of Appeals holding that a party that denies a tender of defense based on a duty to defend and indemnify another party on their third party claim may not later challenge the reasonableness of the underlying settlement.

Division One's holding that Penhall was not estopped from challenging WRS's settlement with Morse Square as the proper measure of damages for its breach of contract with WRS is in conflict with decisions of Divisions One and Three of the Court of Appeals, permitting review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

In *U. S. Oil & Ref. v. Lee & Eastes*, 104 Wn. App. 823, 16 P.3d 1278 (2001), Division One addressed the effect of a party's denial of its obligation to defend and indemnify another party on a third party claim

on the denying party's ability to later challenge the reasonableness of a settlement agreement on the claim in the absence of any evidence suggesting unreasonableness. In that case, Lee & Eastes argued that even if a self-load agreement required coverage for U.S. Oil for a third party claim, questions of fact remained regarding the reasonableness of the underlying settlement and the relative fault of U.S. Oil, the plaintiff, and Lee & Eastes. Lee & Eastes asserted that it was not "bound by" the terms of U.S. Oil's settlement with the plaintiff, because U.S. Oil unreasonably excluded Lee & Eastes from settlement negotiations. Division One rejected these arguments, noting that Lee & Eastes declined U.S. Oil's tender of defense, and could not later insist upon reexamining the settlement in the complete absence of any evidence suggesting the settlement was unreasonable. Division One also pointed to the lack of any issue requiring a determination of relative fault and noted that relative fault is a tort law concept.<sup>47</sup>

In the instant case, Division One recognized Evanston's argument that Penhall's breach of contract also provided as basis for equitable indemnity under the "ABC rule" because Penhall's breach exposed WRS to liability to a third party [Morse Square]. The "ABC"

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> 104 Wn. App. at 840.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Evanston Ins. Co., 13 Wn. App. 2d at 875.

rule is an equitable rule under which attorney fees are compensable as consequential damages in certain situations. The ABC Rule has three elements which must be satisfied for it to apply: "(1) a wrongful act or omission by A ... toward B ...; (2) such act or omission exposes or involves B ... in litigation with C ...; and (3) C was not connected with the initial transaction or event ..., viz., the wrongful act or omission of A toward B." $^{50}$ 

Division One found that it would be inequitable to imply a duty to defend on the part of Penhall under the ABC rule because the WRS/Morse Square contract provided for mediation and binding arbitration where the Penhall/WRS contract did not. Division One started with the general proposition that non-signatories generally will be bound to arbitrate only when ordinary principles of contract and agency dictate such a result, listing five theories for binding non-signatories to arbitration agreements.<sup>51</sup> Without any analysis, Division One concluded that none of the five limited exceptions were present in the instant case.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> *LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Grp., LLC*, 181 Wn.2d 117, 123-24, 330 P.3d 190, 193-94 (2014) (quoting *Blueberry Place v. Northward Homes*, 126 Wn. App. 352, 358, 110 P.3d 1145, 1149 (2005)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Evanston Ins. Co., 13 Wn. App. 2d at 876-77.

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