FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/25/2020 3:44 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 99154-5

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON (Court of Appeals No. 79657-7-I)

\_\_\_\_\_

# EVANSTON INSURANCE COMPANY,

an Illinois corporation, and an Assignee of Western Refinery Services, a Washington Corporation,

Petitioner,

v.

PENHALL COMPANY, a California corporation,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT PENHALL COMPANY'S ANSWER TO EVANSTON'S PETITION FOR REVIEW IN THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

Jacquelyn A. Beatty, WSBA #17567 Robert A. Radcliffe, WSBA #19035 KARR TUTTLE CAMPBELL 701 Fifth Ave., Ste. 3300 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 223-1313 Attorneys for Respondent Penhall Company

# I. INTRODUCTION

This case does not merit Supreme Court review under RAP 13.4(b). The core question here is not who has the best case; it is whether this case is important enough for this Court's consideration. It is not. The cases Evanston relies upon to argue that Division One's decision¹ here conflicts with other appellate decisions do not support Evanston's proposition. Rather, it is a simple matter of Division One correctly determining the trial erred when granting Evanston's motion for summary judgment, which Evanston does not like. As Division One summarized: "[S]ummary judgment on liability was improper. Evidence in the record demonstrated questions of fact."

In its Petition for Review, Evanston advances various indemnity-based arguments, premised on incorrect claims Penhall "recommended" and sold WRS a "product;" that Penhall breached an express warranty; and that Penhall had a "duty to defend" WRS in the arbitration action filed by property owner, Morse Square. There was no arbitration provision in the contract between WRS and Penhall. Penhall never undertook a duty to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Evanston Ins. Co. v. Penhall Co., 13 Wn. App. 2d 863, 468 P.3d 651 (2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Evanston, 13 Wn. App. 2d at 871.

defend. Penhall did not recommend or sell a product. "Construction contracts are not governed by the UCC."

Penhall warranted materials and workmanship, but "Penhall was not a waterproofing consultant for Morse or WRS and was not hired to analyze the leak problem and recommended a best option. Penhall chose System C only in the sense that it was the only water proofing process it installs." Penhall's indemnity condition was for "damages it directly caused," and included no duty to defend. Why would any subcontractor agree to defend a general contractor for the latter's potentially defective work, particularly against claims by an owner whose property—a concrete parking deck in this case—was built without expansion joints and with defective placement of steel reinforcement, and where someone else directed the subcontractor where to perform?

There is no evidence Penhall's materials or workmanship were defective (at minimum it is a question of fact); and Penhall's work directly damaged nothing. WRS inspected Penhall's work and said it "looked

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Urban Dev., Inc. v. Evergreen Bldg. Prods., LLC, 114 Wn. App. 639, 645, 59 P.3d 112 (2002).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> 13 Wn. App. 2d at 871-872.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> 13 Wn. App. 2d at 875. CP 795.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CP 972-973.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> CP 834-835, 893.

good." And there is considerable evidence of Morse's and WRS's own responsibility for the continued leaking. Division One's decision does not conflict with decisions of any court. And the inventive public interest statement Evanston makes based on construction spending, the number of firms, labor costs and the purported "ubiquity and necessity of indemnity agreements and warranties" is amphigoric under the facts of this case. In fact, Washington's public policy is expressed in its anti-indemnification statute, RCW 4.25.115, barring indemnification agreements in construction matters except to the extent of the indemnitor's own fault.

### II. PARTY FILING ANSWER

Penhall Company, defendant below and prevailing party in Division One.

### III. RELIEF REQUESTED

Division One correctly evaluated the record and reversed the trial court's summary judgment in Evanston's favor. The court did not misconstrue or misapply any decision of this Court or of other appellate courts. Penhall respectfully requests this Court deny Evanston's Petition.

### IV. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Does Division One's decision conflict with the *Barbee, Fortune*View, and Urban Development cases as required for review under

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> 13 Wn. App. 2d at 868.

- RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2)? No. Penhall did not have an "implied duty to defend" and these decisions do not hold otherwise.
- 2. Does Division One's decision that Penhall can challenge the amount of Evanston's settlement payment to Morse conflict with any decisions of the courts of appeal, meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(2)? No. Estoppel is inapplicable under the facts of this case.
- 3. Does Division One's decision that declined to find Penhall had a duty to defend WRS against claims by the project owner based on implied indemnity raise issues of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4)? No. It would be absurd to impose on all subcontractors warranting their workmanship a duty to defend general contractors, particularly when project scope and design are the responsibility of others, not the subcontractor.

### V. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2014 Morse Square hired WRS to work on Morse's new (incomplete) parking garage deck because the deck leaked when it rained.<sup>9</sup> Neither Morse nor its design professionals considered waterproofing during deck design or construction.<sup>10</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> CP 788, 838, 879.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> CP 767-68, 837, 847.

Morse Square provided no information to WRS (or to Penhall) about the deck's design or construction.<sup>11</sup> Initially, Morse Square wanted only to pave with asphalt, but Loren Vanderyacht, manager of WRS's paving division, responded "I said no, asphalt won't do it because it's not completely impermeable, so you need a waterproofing membrane to go under it. I said let me call Penhall. I know that they do that."<sup>12</sup> Vanderyacht knew of Penhall's work on Washington State bridges.<sup>13</sup>

Morse Square, without consulting an engineering or design professional to assess why the deck leaked and what was needed to correct the problem, signed a contract with WRS:<sup>14</sup>

| Approximate | Unit of | Description                                | Unit  | Total Price |
|-------------|---------|--|-------|-------------|
| Quantity    | Measure | _  | Price |             |
| 3,300       | Sq Yd   | 1) Install waterproof                      |       |             |
|             |         | membrane system.                           |       |             |
|             |         | 2) Overlay with 1 ½" Class                 |       |             |
|             |         | G asphalt                                  |       | \$117,820   |
|             |         | Add \$6,900 for a double                   |       |             |
|             |         | coat seal coat after paving. <sup>15</sup> |       |             |
|             |         | Pricing is based on 30,000                 |       |             |
|             |         | pound gross weight limit.                  |       |             |

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> CP 903.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> CP 889, 899-900.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> CP 890. Penhall is not a waterproofing specialty contractor as Evanston suggests. Petition at p. 1. In its brief before the Court of Appeals, Evanston said Penhall held itself out as a "nationwide leader in waterproofing." Brief of Respondent at p. 5. This assertion was likewise untrue. Penhall holds itself out as a leader in concrete cutting, breaking, excavation, and grinding. CP 773 & Appendix I.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> CP 628-29, 791, 836, 838, 847-48.

 $<sup>^{15}</sup>$  "WRS and Morse  $\dots$  declined to install a double seal coat over the asphalt  $\dots$  because the 'system was working' and they 'didn't need to spend the \$6900 for anything additional.'" 13 Wn. App. 2d at 868.

| Price includes a two year |  |
|---------------------------|--|
| warranty on the           |  |
| waterproofing membrane    |  |

The Morse / WRS contract contained an arbitration clause. 16

Per Penhall's representative Joe Metcalf, WRS's Vanderyacht called and said he "had a Petromat project." Metcalf drove up and walked the property. Metcalf was not there as a design professional. "This initial walkthrough lasted only 10-15 minutes." Metcalf said "we could put a membrane down. We do it on bridges. We could do that. But Petromat would not be a suitable thing . . . [It] is more of a reflective crack type thing . . . designed for asphalt, not concrete."

Penhall provided a proposal that contemplated a subsequent formal contract, but WRS accepted the proposal as the contract. It provided:<sup>19</sup>

SCOPE OF WORK: Penhall Company will provide the following Items of work ....

| Item | Description  | UOM | Qty of<br>Units | Unit \$    | Total Each  |
|------|--|-----|-----------------|------------|-------------|
| PC-1 | Additional<br>mobilization /<br>Paving Shift (est) | Ea  |                 | \$2,800.00 |             |
| PC-2 | Waterproofing<br>Method System C                   | SY  | 3300            | \$16.36    | \$53,988.00 |
|      | \$53,988.00  |     |                 |            |             |

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> CP 792.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> 13 Wn. App. 2d at 867.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CP 770-71.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> CP 794-95. Appendix D to Evanston's Petition. Emphasis added.

PC-2: ...Limits of the fabric reinforcement must be clearly marked and communicated to Penhall's crew....

Deck must be blown or vacuum swept clean (By others)
....

EXCLUSIONS: ... surface preparation, repairing damaged waterproofing or damaged asphalt overlay, Testing (By others) must be performed prior to asphalt paving....Crack sealing ....

The WRS / Penhall contract had no attorney fee provision and no agreement to arbitrate.<sup>20</sup> The only mention of "indemnity" in Penhall's proposal was: "Nothing in resulting subcontract shall require the Subcontractor to indemnify any other party from any damages (including ... attorney's fees) to persons or property for any amount exceeding the degree Subcontractor directly caused such damages," noted by the Court of Appeals as a "condition."<sup>21</sup>

Penhall's work was limited to installing System C Membrane, a process developed by the State of Washington Department of Transportation ("WSDOT") for use on highway bridges.<sup>22</sup> System C is not a proprietary product – it is not a "product" in the legal sense at all, despite Evanston's repeated reference to Penhall's application of System C as a "product" and the legal argument Evanston makes flowing from its mischaracterization. System C is a formulation and set of instructions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> CP 794-95.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> 13 Wn. App. 2d at 867.

designated by WSDOT for on-site preparation of a mixture of liquid asphalt and melted rubber, over which a paving fabric is placed.<sup>23</sup> Division One correctly called it a "process." <sup>24</sup> "The membrane is made by applying a layer of heated granulated rubber with an asphalt oil binder to a surface and putting a fabric layer over so the mixture bonds with the fabric."25 1.5 inches of asphalt pavement is then applied over the membrane. Penhall applied the rubber-liquid asphalt mix and fabric. WRS paved over with asphalt.<sup>26</sup> WRS's Vanderyacht inspected Penhall's membrane application before WRS covered it with asphalt, and testified Penhall's work "looked good."<sup>27</sup> Vanderyacht also testified Morse considered a "double seal" coat over WRS's asphalt as provided in WRS's contract with Morse Square, but after observing Penhall's work, "we came to the conclusion that this system is working and we don't need to spend the \$6900 for anything additional."<sup>28</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> CP 910-11, 914.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> CP 73, 211-16, 909-11. 13 Wn. App. 2d at 867.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> *Id.* at 8: "WRS knew Penhall used the System C process for bridges. Penhall was willing to apply the process to the parking garage deck." *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> 13 Wn. App. 2d at 867.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> CP 911.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> CP 892, 898. Also, Bill Parks of FDT, with whom Morse later contracted to fix the leaks observed FDT's removal of WRS's asphalt and Penhall's membrane: "Asphalt is well bonded....It took a good amount of effort ... to remove all the asphalt [and] underlying membrane." CP 1063.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> CP 902. See also 13 Wn. App. 2d at 868.

Evanston makes much of the fact Penhall provided a warranty for materials and workmanship.<sup>29</sup> But there was no evidence the materials Penhall used or its workmanship were defective; indeed the evidence was otherwise.<sup>30</sup> Furthermore, "[t]he bid explicitly excluded some items of work, including crack sealing and surface preparation, and indicated that testing by others must occur before asphalt is paved over the membrane. ... The contract did not contain an arbitration provision or a provision for attorney fees."<sup>31</sup> Penhall never contracted to "waterproof the parking deck" as Evanston claims – Penhall subcontracted with WRS to apply the System C only over that part of the deck area others designated.<sup>32</sup> As Division One found:

Under the contract, Penhall was to apply the membrane where directed. Penhall was not responsible to independently determine where to apply the membrane or how to integrate it with the buildings attached to the parking garage. Morse or WRS was to make those determinations. It is clear the membrane did not cover the entire horizontal surface, leaving edges exposed, and areas where water could

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> 13 Wn. App. 2d 875. Also, there were no "warranty repairs" (Evanston's words, Petition at 5), if by that Evanston means repairing defective or damaged System C. Division One correctly described Penhall's repair efforts: "WRS and Penhall both performed repairs..." *Id.* at 868. "Evanston mischaracterizes Penhall's statement that System C was the wrong product. When the deck leaked after completion of the paving, Penhall made efforts to stop the leaks." *Id.* at 872.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> See supra, note 27 and accompanying text.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> 13 Wn. App. 2d at 867.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> The testimony conflicted about who determined where System C was to go. WRS's Vanderyacht testified the membrane and asphalt were applied in areas designated by Morse's Rick Westerop. CP 893. Westerop testified WRS told Penhall where to put the membrane. CP 834-35. Neither said Penhall selected the area of application.

enter the cracked concrete from beyond the membrane. ... questions of fact exist as to breach and causation.<sup>33</sup>

Penhall also was not hired to treat and fill cracks,<sup>34</sup> which—as it turned out—was fatal to the success of the project.<sup>35</sup>

When the deck leaked after WRS and Penhall finished, Morse hired waterproofing design consultant, Mike Caniglia of Wetherholt and Associates, to make recommendations.<sup>36</sup> Caniglia described numerous transition points vulnerable to leaks, and cracks.<sup>37</sup> FDT's manager, Bill Parks, noted similar problems.<sup>38</sup> Transitions and crack repair were not in Penhall's scope of work. Caniglia identified other contributing conditions, including surface prep—also excluded from Penhall's scope.<sup>39</sup> He noted no preliminary testing of the System C membrane's adhesion. Typically he recommends such testing. Testing was not in Penhall's scope, though testing was "required by [WRS's] contract with Penhall."<sup>40</sup> Caniglia made recommendations and Morse hired FDT.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> 13 Wn. App. 2d at 873

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> CP 833.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> CP 1448-1451.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> CP 1063-1064. Morse Square contract with F.D. Thomas ("FDT") "to fix the leaks" after WRS and Penhall left the project. 13 Wn. App. 2d at 868.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> CP 1457. 13 Wn. App. 2d at 873.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> CP 1455-1456. 13 Wn. App. 2d at 873.

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